Fort Hays State University

FHSU Scholars Repository

Master's Theses

Spring 2015

Examining The Relationship Of Demographic Variables, Media Exposure, And Motivation On Second Language Acquisition

Heidi Hines Fort Hays State University, hjhines@mail.fhsu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.fhsu.edu/theses



Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Hines, Heidi, "Examining The Relationship Of Demographic Variables, Media Exposure, And Motivation On Second Language Acquisition" (2015). Master's Theses. 47.

DOI: 10.58809/SBVJ7254

Available at: https://scholars.fhsu.edu/theses/47

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by FHSU Scholars Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of FHSU Scholars Repository. For more information, please contact ScholarsRepository@fhsu.edu.

EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP OF DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES, MEDIA EXPOSURE, AND MOTIVATION ON SECOND LANGUAGE ACQUISITION

being

A Field Study Presented to the Graduate Faculty
of the Fort Hays State University in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for
the Degree of Education Specialist

by

Heidi Hines

M.S., Fort Hays State University

Date	Approved	
	Major Professor	
	Approved	
	Chair, Graduate Council	

ABSTRACT

Many students in higher education settings struggle with learning a new language. It's not uncommon for international students to need additional resources in learning to speak and write in English. A pilot study funded by Fort Hays State University implemented various English software programs, such as Rosetta Stone, and Memrise at one of their Chinese partnership universities. The English programs were given as an option to help the students during an English composition course. The current study took advantage of FHSU's pilot study and used that opportunity to investigate additional variables related to second language acquisition. The current study does not assess the result of the programs used in the pilot study, but rather explores variables such as motivation and learning strategies that are related to English acquisition.

There were 76 participants (36 men and 40 women) from Sias International University sampled in this study. The mean age for participants was 20.77 (SD=1.07). Students enrolled in five sections of ENG 101 from fall 2013 and another five sections of ENG 102 from spring 2014 participated in the study. As part of the study, participants completed a battery of surveys including: an ESL placement test (developed by FHSU ESL Office), a demographic survey (self-constructed), the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ; Pintrich, Smith, Garcia, & McKeachie, 1991), the Strategy Inventory for Language Learning (SILL; Oxford & Burry-Stock, 1998), and a media consumption questionnaire (modified from Kohut, Doherty, Dimock, & Keeter, 2012).

It was predicted that demographic variables (e.g., desire to study abroad, frequency with which English was spoken in the home, interest in learning English)

would be related to ESL placement test scores. However, no significant results related to demographic variables were found. For example, there was no significant difference in scores on the ESL placement test between participants who desired to study abroad, did not desire to study abroad, or might be interested in studying abroad. In addition, the correlation between frequency with which English was spoken in the home and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant. Similarly, the correlation between an individual's interest in learning English and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant. And, there was no significant difference in scores on the ESL placement test between participants who indicated that learning English is beneficial and participants who indicated that learning English is not beneficial.

It was also hypothesized that ESL placement test scores would be related to scores on the MSLQ, SILL, and media consumption surveys. The correlations between intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation scores on the ESL placement test were not statistically significant. The correlations between the SILL subscales and scores on the ESL placement test were not statistically significant. The correlation between English media consumption and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant.

Although the correlations run between ESL placement test scores and Demographic variables, motivation scales, Strategy Inventory for Language Learning, and media consumption were found to be insignificant, this information can be beneficial for future research. Future research may use this information to take a more in-depth look at one or more of those variables and their relationship with second language acquisition or other areas of learning. Knowing that these correlations were found to be insignificant also expands the body of knowledge on second language acquisition. This study helps

educators and students to understand different variables that may or may not be related to second language acquisition at the college level.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This thesis was made possible through the help, advice and support of many individuals. I would like to express a very special thanks to Dr. Jennifer Bonds-Raacke, my advisor, for your encouragement, support, and motivation. Your expert advice helped to guide me through many difficult situations and this thesis would not have been possible without you. Thank you to the members of my graduate committee, Dr. Paul Faber, Dr. Trey Hill, and Professor Jennifer Kitson for reviewing my thesis, providing your valuable time, and making insightful recommendations along the way.

I would like to offer my special thanks to Justin Nicholes for helping in data collection. I would also like to thank Cindy Elliott, Philip Wittkorn, and Mehran Shahidi for their involvement with the FHSU study and allowing me to use their student sample for participants in my thesis. Thank you to Grace Zhou and the FHSU Office of Strategic Partnerships for helping in translating material.

Also, thanks to my parents, Elvon and Paulette, and my siblings Nichole, Shane, and Kimberly, for supporting me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	i
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF APPENDIXES	viii
INTRODUCTION	1
Demographic Variables: Age, Heredity, and Other Factors	2
Motivation	5
General Information	5
Motivation for Language Acquisition	8
Media	10
English Acquisition.	12
English Acquisition Expectations	12
Verbal Fluency	13
Vocabulary/Grammar	16
Reading	17
Purpose and Hypothesis	20
Demographic Variables and English Acquisition	20
Motivation, Language Learning Strategies, and Media	21
METHOD	23
Participants	23
Materials and Procedure	23

ESL Placement Test	24
Demographic Survey	25
Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire	25
Strategy Inventory for Language Learning	26
Media Consumption Questionnaire	27
RESULTS	28
Controlling for Influence of FHSU Pilot Project	28
FHSU Pilot Project	28
Outcome of Demographic Variables and Learning English	28
Study Abroad	28
Exposure and Interest	29
Outcome of Motivation and Learning English	31
Outcome of Strategies for Learning English	31
Outcome of Media and Learning English	33
DISCUSSION	34
Demographic Variables and Learning English	34
Motivation and Learning English	35
Strategies for Learning English	36
Media and Learning English	36
Limitations and Directions for Future Research	37
Implications	38
Conclusions	39
DEFEDENCES	40

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page	
1	Participant University Major	53	
2	Fluent Languages	54	
3	English Proficiency Exam.	55	
4	Planned and Unplanned Students	56	
5	Study Abroad	57	

LIST OF APPENDIXES

Appendix		Page
A	ESL Placement Test	58
В	Demographic Questionnaire	59
C	Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire	62
D	Strategy Inventory for Learning (SILL)	64
E	Revised Media Questionnaire	69
F	IRB Approval Letter	71

INTRODUCTION

In the Fall of 2000, Fort Hays State University (FHSU) began offering courses in mainland China to 40 students and today there are over 3,000 Chinese students benefiting from FHSU courses in various Chinese partnerships. One of FHSU's partnership universities is Sias International University in Xinzheng China. Sias International University is the first full-time undergraduate university approved by the Degree Committee of the State Council in China to grant both Chinese and American bachelor's degrees. The School of Foreign Language at Sias is an undergraduate degree program of the university. The aim of the school is to develop well-rounded students with morals, discipline, and social skills. It also strives to cultivate multi-skilled talents with a strong understanding of the English language and knowledge of international business and skills. Thus, learning English is important to the success of the student inside the classroom and for future job opportunities (Fort Hays State University, 2013; see also www.fhsu.edu).

One challenge to the existing partnership with Sias is related to student performance. Specifically, some students at Sias do not currently demonstrate the desired fluency to speak, read, and write in English. FHSU implemented a pilot program in which various English software programs, such as Rosetta Stone, and Memrise were added to English Composition courses to address English fluency.

Although this is an important issue, the purpose of the current study was not to measure the effectiveness of the software programs on acquisition of English as a second language. Rather, the current researcher seized this opportunity to study other variables of interest related to the topic. Specifically, this study examined the influence of

demographic variables, motivation, strategies for learning language, and media exposure on second language acquisition. Thus, this introduction will review literature related to these areas, as well as the following areas in language acquisition: verbal fluency, grammar, and reading.

Demographic Variables: Age, Heredity, and Other Factors

Researchers have proposed that a sensitive (critical) period exists for language acquisition. A sensitive period means that there is an ideal time during development to learn a language and obtain native-like fluency. If an individual is not exposed to a language during this limited window of time, the resulting skills will be less than desirable (Mayberry & Lock, 2003). Although research varies slightly on the exact age at which the critical period ends, it is clear that early language learning is beneficial. For example, it has been suggested that the sensitive period for first language acquisition (L1) is below age five (Newport, 1991; Senghas & Coppola, 2001). Similarly, the sensitive period for second language acquisition (L2) is ages 6-12 years old or before puberty to reach the same fluency as L1 (Meisel, 1995). McNealy, Mazziotta, and Dapretto (2011) studied 156 participants, ranging from age five to adulthood, using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fmRI) while listening to three novel streams of continuous speech. Only the 5-to 10-year-old children displayed significant signal increases for the stream with low statistical regularities, suggesting an age-related decrease in sensitivity to more subtle statistical cues.

Research in the area of language impairment also provides evidence that early language learning is beneficial. Bishop, Berry, and Hardiman (2012) considered whether

rate of learning of novel phonological sequences was impaired when the same items were presented repeatedly. Results showed that regardless of family specific language impairment (SLI) status, adult participants showed a decrease in score from the last trial of their first session to the first trial of the second session. Children maintained their level of performance regardless of whether or not they had SLI. The results indicated that children show a better retention over a delay for new phonological sequences than adults, regardless of overall level of language ability.

In addition to age, research has examined how genes/heredity are involved with language learning. Many researchers have found that genes / heredity are involved with learning a language; although the specific amount of variance explained varies from study to study. For example, Oliver et al. (2004) reported from a study of 7-year-old twins in the United Kingdom, that genes accounted for around two-thirds of the variability in learning. Wainwright, Wright, Luciano, Geffen, and Martin (2005) found heritability accounted for 73% of learning, whereas the environment only accounted for 11%. Heredity plays an important role in learning a second language as well. For example, Vinkhuyzen, Van Der Sluis, Posthuma, and Boomsma (2009) conducted a twin study of second language learning where participants rated their abilities to speak one or more foreign languages in relation to the general population. Results indicated heredity explained an estimated 71% of the variance. Dale, Harlaar, and Plomin (2012) conducted a twin analyses that revealed that 42% of the variance of L2 was due to genetic variance and 33% was due to shared environmental factors within a family. Thus even though the

exact number varies, these studies indicate the importance biology plays in language acquisition.

Finally, researchers have identified other factors that are related to second language acquisition. Ehrman and Oxford (1989) looked at the difference in language learning strategies based on gender, career choice, cognitive style, and aspects of personality. Women were found to use more learning strategies than men and professional trainers used more strategies than other groups. Contextual factors such as learners' self-beliefs and social support may influence the kinds of strategies used by learners. The learning environment was assessed to see if it meets the student's needs and manages emotional responses to individualized language learning. Introversion, intuition, and perception were characteristic of language-learning professionals (Brown, 2009). Findings suggest that the contextual factors such as learners' self-beliefs and social support influence the kinds of strategies that learners employ.

Sociolinguistic variables and variation of feedback supplied to the learner have been shown to affect language learning. Sociolinguistic variation is the study of the way language varies any and all aspects of society, including cultural norms, expectations, and context, on the way language is used, and the effects of language on society. Howard (2012) looked at the effect of sociolinguistic variation in second language learning. The study specifically looked at French inter-language to explore different issues such as the individual variation in the use of sociolinguistic variables, the relationship between different sociolinguistic variables within the individual learner's social area, and the long-term impact on naturalistic exposure on the instructed learner's sociolinguistic

development. Their findings showed that when learners used different sociolinguistic variable types, the use of a specific variable was related to another. The variation of less and more explicit feedback was also found to impact second language acquisition.

Another study asked participants to complete input-based, task-essential practice with interpreting roles in Latin sentences and then received feedback (Stafford, Bowden, & Sanz, 2012). Groups varied in whether they received less or more explicit feedback in practice. Results suggested that practice and less explicit feedback was sufficient to help improvement and ability to interpret Latin case morphology, but more explicit feedback was necessary to promote improvement in production. These findings mirror earlier work by Krashen (1982, 1985) who stated that explicit instruction can only affect the learning rather than the acquisition of the target language.

Motivation

General information. Motivation is the act or process of giving someone a reason for doing something. Intrinsic motivation refers to behaviors that are engaged in for their own sake and extrinsic motivation refers to behaviors that are performed to achieve some externally prized consequence, not out of interest or a personal desire for mastery (Ryan & Deci, 2002; Vansteenkiste, Lens, & Deci, 2006). The primary difference between the two types of motivation is that extrinsic motivation arises from outside of the individual, whereas intrinsic motivation arises from within. Intrinsic motivation can also be described as the desire to engage in tasks that are inherently satisfying (Sheldon & Ryan, 2011). Extrinsic motivation is influenced by external factors or influences on behavior, such as rewards or consequences (Ryan & Deci, 2000). An

example of intrinsic motivation would be a child that reads a book for the enjoyment of reading, and extrinsic motivation would be a child who only reads assigned reading from the teacher to receive the reward of a good grade. Behavioral characteristics that are important to motivation include; persistence, choice of challenge, dependency on adults, and emotion. Persistence is the ability to stay with a task for a reasonably long period of time. A highly motivated person will stay involved for a long period of time, whereas an unmotivated person will give up very easily when not instantly successful. Motivated learners will also choose an activity that is slightly difficult for them but provides an appropriate challenge (Brophy, Webb, & Hancock, 1997; Kohn, 2010).

Much research has been conducted to examine how intrinsic motivation relates to school settings. For example, research has found that students learn more when intrinsically motivated and they also retain that learning better. Intrinsically motivated students are also more involved in their own learning and development. Parents can build on this sense of confidence by guiding their child's motivation, learning, and development. Students with high intrinsic motivation do not need an adult constantly watching and helping with activities. Students who are clearly motivated will have a positive display of emotion because they are satisfied with their work and show more enjoyment in the activity (Brophy et al., 1997).

Extrinsic motivation can be used to increase the frequency of a desired behavior. However, people have to consider the effects of rewards on their self-concept, and their motivation to do that activity in the future (Deci, Koestner, & Ryan, 1999). Does being paid to read, for example, change a student's idea about why they read? The danger of

reward programs for reading is that students will begin to think they are reading to earn something, not because they find reading to be an enjoyable activity. When the reward programs end, the student may read less than they did before. According to the selfperception theory, rewards can hurt intrinsic motivation (Harackiewicz, 1979). Replacing intrinsic motivation with extrinsic motivation makes people lose interest in the activity they initially enjoyed. This is referred to as the over-justification effect. This effect results when people view their behavior as caused by compelling extrinsic reasons, making them underestimate the extent to which their behavior was caused by intrinsic reasons (Warneken & Tomasello, 2008). However, it has been found that extrinsic motivation can increase learning ability in some cases. An example of this is when McGeown, Norgate, and Warhurst (2012) studied the difference between children's levels of reading skill and intrinsic and extrinsic reading motivation. They found that extrinsic motivation was associated with variation in reading skill among children with excellent reading scores. This study indicates that children with higher reading scores were found to have higher external motivation.

Rassuli (2012) evaluated external rewards outside of the school setting when he assessed the impact of external motivators presented in the workplace. He studied workers that were offered an engagement bonus of premium wages as an incentive to work overtime. The study was based on the idea that the bonus would increase worker motivation to agree to work overtime. Results showed that workers' willingness to work overtime increased as incentives/bonuses increased. These results support the idea that

extrinsic reinforcements added to a voluntary action causes extrinsic motivation to be enhanced and the previous motivation to be weakened by extrinsic motivation.

Personality style has also been found to have an effect on internal motivation type. Intrinsic motivation can be broken into different subsets. Carbonneau, Vallerand, and Lafrenière (2012) assessed different types of internal motivation. They presented a tripartite model consisting of internal motivation to know (i.e., engaging in an activity to experience pleasure while learning and trying to understand something new), internal motivation toward accomplishment (i.e., engaging in an activity for the pleasure experienced when attempting task mastery), and internal motivation to experience stimulation (i.e., engaging in an activity for feelings of sensory pleasure). Each type of internal motivation resulted from task, situational, and personality determinants and lead to specific types of cognitive, affective, and behavioral outcomes. The results revealed that experiencing one type of internal motivation over the others depends in part on personality style. Each type of internal motivation was found to predict specific outcomes (i.e., affective states and behavioral choices).

Motivation for language acquisition. Research has found motivation is a factor in learning a second language and there are contributing factors related to motivation for language learning. For example, a study assessing Singaporean university students learning Japanese and French found significant results between motivation, self-related proficiency, and language studied, with motivation significantly interacting with language studied (Wharton, 2000). Kormos, Kiddle, and Csizér (2011) found language-learning motivation consists of goal systems, attitudes, self-efficacy beliefs, and future

self-guides. Kormos and Csizér (2008) compared the motivation for learning English as a foreign language in three different populations (i.e., secondary school pupils, university students, and adult language learners) and found the secondary school population showed an interest in English-language cultural products that affected their motivation. Self-efficacy may also be realated to motivation. Erler and Macaro (2011) found an important link between young beginner learners' inability to decode French, their sense of self-efficacy with decoding-related tasks, and their desire to continue learning the language beyond their educational classes. They believed that other pressures outside of learning the language weakened the student's motivation in language learning. This decrease in motivation was due to the immense time and effort it took students to learn decoding of new languages.

Research has also found that in certain situations extrinsic motivation is related to intrinsic motivation and self-efficacy is related to intrinsic motivation. Specifically, Wang (2008) explored the relationship between intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation, and second language English achievement. A factor analysis of the results revealed a multidimensional construct for motivation of knowledge, motivation for challenge, internal fulfillment regulation, and external utility regulation. Results indicated that autonomous extrinsic motivation correlated positively with intrinsic motivation and achievement, while controlled extrinsic motivation correlated negatively with them. This means that when extrinsic motivation is related to the individual's needs and independence, it is closely related to intrinsic motivation. However, extrinsic motivation that comes from a controlled source isn't related to intrinsic motivation. Additionally,

Wang, Peng, Huang, Hou, and Wang (2008) researched the relationships between motivation, learning strategies, self-efficacy, attribution, and learning. They found self-efficacy and internal attribution have indirect positive predictable effects on learning results. These results indicate there is a positive relationship between self-efficacy based intrinsic motivation and learning.

Media

The literature review thus far has examined many factors that may impact language learning. The next factor to be discussed is the impact of media exposure on second language acquisition. Research has documented the positive impact that media can have on increasing rates of reading and excitement to read. Harris (2009) looked at the relationship of using television to encourage reading. According to a survey completed by librarians, 82% of children asked for books featured on the television show *Reading Rainbow* (Fisch, 2002; Wood & Duke, 1997). Similar results were found with adults. Toni Morrison had her novel *Song of Solomon* selected as the second offering of the Oprah Book Club and within months a million copies were sold (Gray, 1998). Furthermore when Oprah announced that her book club would be discontinuing, Toni sold over 500,000 additional copies of her novel (Sachs, 2002). These studies show that media can increase book sales which could, in turn, influence reading. Media's influence on reading may also lead to media influencing language learning.

Research has consistently found that exposure to media is related to acculturation and language skills in immigrants. For example, Lee and Tse (1994) looked at immigrant's change their media consumption when they moved across cultural

boundaries and whether media exposure relates to immigrants' acquiring of the social norms. Results showed that media exposure related significantly to immigrants' acculturation of the new social norms. More recently, Mucherah (2008) found that exposure to native media (i.e., media native to the new country) was a reported factor at enhancing the use of the native language for immigrants. Brenneman, Morris, and Israelian (2007) found a link between media exposure, reading, and language. Specifically, they found a positive correlation between a child's English language preference for media and better reading skills in English.

Other factors might also be related to media exposure and language learning. Festinger (1957) suggests that individuals select information that is consistent with their attitudes and beliefs and ignore or avoid information that is discrepant. Klapper (1960) provides the argument that the media serves to reinforce beliefs largely based on the phenomena of selective exposure to information. If people select and avoid media messages as a function of their attitudes, beliefs, or cognitions, then individual variations in this regard should be predictive of media use patterns. An individual's attitudes, beliefs, or cognitions about a culture or language may influence the media messages that they consume in that language. For example, interest in and attention to the Watergate hearing was highest among McGovern supporters, lowest among Nixon supporters, and moderate among undecided citizens (Sweeney & Gruber, 1984). Similarly, 70% of the individuals who listened to Rush Limbaugh were politically conservative, compared to

Gerber, Huber, Doherty, and Dowling (2011) examined the relationship between dispositional personality traits (the Big Five) and the consumption of political information. They found that the Big Five traits are significant predictors of political interest and knowledge, as well as consumption of different types of political media. These studies suggest that people will consume media that is most closely related to their beliefs. If an individual has positive or negative beliefs about a language, then those attitudes will affect their willingness to consume media in that language.

Perse (2001) found that the need for cognition scores were positively associated with greater attention to news reports and with greater tendencies to watch local television news for purposes of utility such as information or gain as opposed to simply passing the time. Eysenck and Naias (1978) found that personality traits influence the type of media that the consumer views. Disposition theory suggests that enjoyment of entertainment is largely a reflection of both viewers' dispositions toward the characters in the presentation, and the outcomes of the characters experience (Zillmann, 2000). These studies suggest that a person's personality and interest will influence what media they view. Studies such as these suggest that characteristics such as motivation to learn a second language might be related to media consumption in that language.

English Acquisition

English acquisition expectations. As can be seen from the review of literature thus far, many factors can impact language learning including age, genes, other demographic variables, and motivation. Similar to the numerous factors influencing language learning, scholars frequently divide language proficiency into various skills or

areas. These areas include verbal fluency (speaking), vocabulary / grammar, and reading abilities. In this section, literature related to these areas for learning English as a second language will be reviewed.

Before moving on to these areas of language proficiency, it is interesting to note Chinese high school students sometimes underestimate the difficulty associated with learning English. Chi-Li (2011) gave 121 Chinese high school students a questionnaire to investigate their beliefs about English learning. The questionnaire assessed their beliefs about the nature, difficulty, autonomy, and learning environment in English learning. The results showed that, in general, Chinese high school students underestimate the difficulty in learning English, they expect communicative language teaching approach, demonstrate a high preference or an English- medium environment, and display a high degree of autonomy in English learning.

Verbal Fluency. As mentioned previously, the critical period hypothesis says that primary language acquisition must occur during a critical period, which ends at about the age of puberty with the establishment of cerebral lateralization of function. A strong implication of this hypothesis is that the processes involved in any language acquisition that takes place after the age of puberty will be qualitatively different from those involved in first language acquisition. Any language learning occurring after the age of puberty will be slower and less successful than normal first language learning (Aaronson & Rieber, 1975; Lenneberg, 1967, 1969; Scolvel, 1969).

The sensitive period for learning to speak is from seven months to three years of age (Mayberry & Lock, 2003; Montessori, 2012; Newport, 1991; Senghas & Coppola,

2001). In L1 acquisition, the typical process of language development is as follows. At seven months of age, infants begin to babble and try to imitate speech by putting consonants and vowels together. Around one year of age, children have said their first word and know one to five words well enough to use them correctly in context. By 14 months, they use inflection and make hand gestures to complement their speech. At 16 months, children talk as opposed to just babbling meaningless sounds. They also make many common consonant sounds, like t, d, n, w, and h. At 18 months, vocabulary has increased to 20 words including names, verbs, and adjectives. They use common phrases and make requests. From 18 to 24 months, children will put two-word phrases together for more novel purposes. At two years of age, they know between 150 and 300 words. They use telegraphic speech which consists of short, two-or three-word sentences and lots of pauses. From two to three years old, children can carry on a simple conversation, and ask simple questions. They can expand phrases from three to six word sentences and develop a vocabulary of 450 words. They can use past tense and plurals while also using pronouns correctly. At four to five years old, children communicate easily and have a vocabulary of about 2,000 words. They can retell a simple story with a beginning, middle, and end while looking at pictures. Most of their grammar, pronunciation, and descriptive words are used correctly. From six to seven, children can describe how two items are the same or different and retell a story. At eight years of age, they have mastered all speech sounds as well as the rate, pitch, and volume of speech. They can use complex and compound sentences correctly and are capable of carrying on a conversation with an adult (Newport, 1991).

There is a variation in verbal fluency between L1 and L2. Because of the variation of learning verbal fluency in L1 and L2, it is important to assess different strategies for language learning and instruction in L2, as previously assessed in L1. Second language instruction programs often ask learners to repeat aloud words spoken by a native speaker. Recent research on retrieval practice has suggested that imitating native pronunciation might be less effective than drill instruction where the learner is required to produce the second language words from memory. Kang, Gollan, and Pashler (2013) conducted an experiment with two conditions. In the first condition, learners viewed pictures of objects and heard their names. After hearing the names, the learner repeated them. Consequently, this was called the imitation condition. The second condition was the retrieval practice condition. In this condition, learners tried to produce the name before hearing it. Retrieval practice produced better comprehension of the second language words, better ability to produce the second language words, and had no loss of pronunciation quality. MacIntyre, Burns, and Jessome (2011) looked at French students ages 12-14 that used immersion in language learning. These students described situations in which they were most willing to communicate and situations in which they were least willing to communicate. Responses revealed that students most frequently discussed communication with teachers and friends in a school context but they also described situations outside the classroom, with extended family or encounters with media. They described major issues as their perceived competence and error correction. Situations in which students are most or least willing to communicate are differentiated by subtle

changes in context that affect the authenticity of communication and needs for independence, competence, and relatedness.

Vocabulary/Grammar. Vocabulary is an important aspect of learning a second language. Wessels (2011) looked at the five characteristics of effective vocabulary instruction to demonstrate how vocabulary can be emphasized in the before, during, and after-reading phases of instruction. Vocabulary was explored in depth to show how teachers can use a single strategy throughout the lesson to access student's background knowledge, support students in making critical content connections, and guide students to higher levels of word knowledge. Lawrence (2012) examined the difference between vocabulary-achievement for middle-school students whose parents speak English at home to those whose parents speak another language. Students indicated how much time they spent reading independently during the summer and during the school year. On-average, middle-school students experienced a loss of vocabulary over the summer. Students who spoke a language other than English at home had more pronounced summer setback and a steeper learning curve. These findings showed that low-income students experience summer loss, but suggest in urban schools serving mostly low-income students, homelanguage may be a stronger predictor of summer loss than socio-economic status or reading amount.

Research has also examined the effects of various programs to improve vocabulary acquisition in second language learners. Lo and Murphy (2010) investigated the vocabulary knowledge and growth across two different language-learning programs in Hong Kong. The programs compared were English immersion programs and regular

English as a second language programs. The immersion students outperformed their regular English counterparts concerning their knowledge of different types of vocabulary at various frequency levels. Immersion students also showed more rapid growth in their vocabulary knowledge, especially for the most frequent 2000 words and academic vocabulary. These results support the idea that immersion can provide a more favorable context for second language learners in learning vocabulary.

Reading. The sensitive period for learning to read is from four and a half to five and a half years old (Montessori, 2012). In the process of learning to read, children start out acquiring elementary decoding skills and learn to apply these with greater accuracy and speed. Word recognition becomes increasingly automatic by direct recognition of multi-letter units and whole words (Reitsma, 1983; Ziegler & Goswami, 2005). Automatic word recognition enables children to devote their mental resources to the meaning of text rather than to recognizing words, allowing them to use reading as a tool to acquire new concepts and information (Perfetti & Marron, 1998; Samules & Flor, 1997). Cognitive and linguistic factors are assumed to have a great impact on reading acquisition. Cognitively, information-processing theories occupy an important position in the study of children's reading development. Information-processing factors, such as effects of visual and linguistic word properties on the selection of words, have been shown to constrain children's word reading and reading comprehension processing (Radach, Kennedy, & Rayner, 2004). Research has also explored the roles of top-down processing and eye-movements in reading (Schuett, Heywood, Kentridge, & Zihl, 2008). It has also been shown that limitations in attention and perception may cause reading

problems (Adams & Snowling, 2001; Purvis & Tannock, 2000). Finally, Baddeley's model of working memory is frequently used when explaining the operations of memory in relation to reading development (Baddeley, 2003).

Grant, Gottardo, and Geva (2011) compared variables related to reading ability in third grade students learning English as a first language L1 and second language L2. The students learning English as a second language came from diverse backgrounds, with different levels of bilingualism in Spanish and English or Portuguese and English before they entered school. Within-group and between-group differences were found. Reading comprehension found differences with receptive vocabulary, decoding, and print exposure in the L1 and L2 groups. These differences were found depending on the L2 students' bilingual language status and language acquisition experiences. The results indicated that students who were learning English as a first language scored higher on reading comprehension as they had fewer outside influences. Additionally, print exposure was highly related to comprehension in the lowest performing L2 groups, suggesting that the L2 groups whom had more print exposure did score higher on reading comprehension.

Learning to read English can be difficult for Hong Kong children who learn

English as a second language. A study was conducted that aimed to look at L1 and L2

phonological awareness and oral language proficiency as predictors of English reading

among children with Chinese L1 (Yeung & Chan, 2013). Participants were 161 preschool

Hong Kong children. They were assessed for English reading, English and Chinese

phonological awareness, English oral language skills, and letter naming ability. Results

indicated that both oral language proficiency and phonological awareness measures significantly predicted L2 word reading. L2 phonemic awareness was the best predictor of L2 word reading. Cross-language transfer was shown with L1 phonological awareness at the tone level, predicting L2 reading. There is an important role of phonological awareness at the rime and phoneme levels, and oral language proficiency in the course of L2 reading development in Chinese students.

Previous research also looked at native Spanish speakers learning English and reading comprehension. First grade Hispanic English-learning students receiving a longitudinal English intervention whom were considered the treatment group were compared to another group of students who did not receive the intervention and served as a control. The results showed that on average, treatment students scored significantly better in dual oracy and Spanish literacy than the control students and girls showed a faster rate in dual reading comprehension (Tong, Lara-Alecio, Irby, & Mathes, 2011). Baker, Park, and Baker (2012) investigated whether initial status and growth rates in reading fluency in Spanish and English, significantly predict reading comprehension within languages and across languages in elementary students. They found that there were different patterns of reading growth in Spanish and English across measures of grades. EL in first grade had higher scores of pseudoword reading in Spanish than in English and had a higher rate of growth on Spanish pseudoworrd reading. In second and third graders, oral reading fluency growth rates were higher in English than in Spanish. A multiple baseline design examined the effects of an intervention that combined a vocabulary folding-in technique and self-graphing procedures on the reading

performance of 3rd grade Spanish-speaking English language learners. Results showed that the combined intervention improved the participants' reading performance as measured by vocabulary sight words, reading fluency, and reading comprehension tasks (Albers & Hoffman, 2012). Basic reading difficulty can be found in phonemic awareness, phonics, and vocabulary, reading fluency and reading comprehension. These aspects of reading can become even more difficult when learning to read a new language.

Purpose and Hypotheses

Demographic variables and English acquisition. The purpose ¹ of the current study was to examine the influence of demographic variables, motivation, strategies for learning language, and media exposure on second language acquisition. Based on the literature review, the following hypotheses regarding factors impacting second language acquisition were formed. First, it was predicted that demographic variables would be related to English as a Second Language (ESL) placement test scores. For example, those participants who indicated they had previously studied abroad or desired to study abroad in the United States (US) would show higher scores on the ESL placement test than those individuals who reported no interest in study abroad. Increased ESL placement test scores for those participants who had previously studied in the US were predicted as performance on both comprehension and production tasks for immersed learners is greater than non-immersed learners in second language proficiency (Linck, Kroll, & Sunderman, 2009). A positive correlation between frequency with which English was

¹ As a reminder, the purpose of the current study was not to measure the effectiveness of the software programs on acquisition of English as a second language. Thus, no hypotheses or results related to this will be discussed.

spoken in the home and ESL placement scores was also expected. This hypothesis was formed because previous research found that individuals become more sensitive to phonological details in a second language with increased second language experiences (Troflmovich, 2008).

Motivation, language learning strategies, and media. Additionally, it was hypothesized that ESL placement test scores would be related to scores on the motivation scales, the language learning strategy scales, and media consumption. To begin, it was predicted that motivation would impact ESL placement test scores. Specifically, a positive correlation was predicted between scores on the intrinsic subscale and scores on the ESL placement test. Such findings would support previous research indicating that intrinsically motivated students outperform extrinsically motivated students in the classroom (Hayenga & Corpus, 2010). It was also predicted that participants' strategies for learning English would impact ESL placement test scores, as previous research has shown that learning strategies were important in foreign language acquisition (Deniz, 2010). A positive correlation was predicted between participants' scores on the ESL placement test and their score on each subscale of the language learning strategy scale; remembering effectively, mental processes, missing knowledge, organizing learning, managing emotions, and learn with others. Finally, how often participants consumed various forms of media in English was predicted to increase English fluency. Participants who consumed more media in English were exposed to English more frequently and one might assume they had an interest in the American culture, which may have increased their desire to learn English and consequently increased ESL placement test scores. This

finding would be consistent with Ferle and Lee (2005) who found English broadcast media is a good way to connect to people across various cultural groups.

METHOD

Participants

There were 76 participants (36 men and 40 women) from Sias International University sampled in this study. The mean age for participants was 20.77 (SD=1.07). When asked their university major, 41% identified as Bachelor of Arts in Global Business English, 22% as Bachelor of Science in Information Networking and Telecommunications, 19% as Bachelor of Business Administration, and 17% as Bachelor of Science in Organizational Leadership. Additionally, most participants (70%) indicated they spoke two languages fluently, while 27% of participants indicated they spoke one language fluently. A very small percentage of participants (1%) indicated they spoke more than two languages fluently. The majority of the participants (94%) were considered "planned" students (those students on a certain degree plan based on previous academic performance). Of the participants, 11 were not exposed to a software program and were the control group. The experimental condition contained 65 participants, all of whom were exposed to two of the four software programs from FHSU's pilot study.

Materials and Procedure

There were five sections of ENG 101 from fall 2013 and another five sections of ENG 102 from spring 2014 that participated in the study. As part of the study, participants completed a battery of surveys including: an ESL placement test (developed by FHSU ESL Office), a demographic survey (self-constructed), the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ; Pintrich, Smith, Garcia, & McKeachie, 1991), the Strategy Inventory for Language Learning (SILL; Oxford & Burry-Stock, 1998), and a

media consumption questionnaire (modified from Kohut, Doherty, Dimock, & Keeter, 2012). All surveys were administered in Chinese. The surveys were written in English and then translated to Chinese by the FHSU ESL Office; this form is considered forward translation. An additional measure to ensure appropriate translation was also taken. Specifically, the surveys were translated again from Chinese back to English by a FHSU faculty member originating from China. This is known as back translation, a process which can reveal errors in meaning or nuances in synonyms selected from the initial translation.

Mr. Justin Nicholes was the FHSU English instructor on site in China for all ENG 101 and 102 courses. As part of the coursework, Mr. Nicholes administered an ESL placement test. The ESL placement test was developed by FHSU ESL Office under the instruction of Mr. Mehran Shahidi and was designed to measure vocabulary/ reading and grammar/ syntax abilities in English as shown in Appendix A. The ESL placement test is routinely given to international students and scores from the post-test at the end of the spring semester were used for the current study. The vocabulary portion was divided into two parts; part one was composed of a sentence with four choices for what the missing word may be. Part two was based on reading comprehension which contained a paragraph that the participant read and then answered multiple choice questions pertaining to the reading. An example of a vocabulary question is, "Together they took a train from Paris _____ Marseills." The participant was given four multiple choices "of, at, by, and to." An example of one of the reading comprehension questions is, "What helped

his imagination grow?" and the participant was given four multiple choices "reading, lying in bed, making predictions, or writing books."

The demographic survey was self-constructed and intended to assess 20 different demographics of the students such as age, gender, desire to travel abroad, and academic major. The questions were developed from demographic factors identified in the literature that have the potential to impact English language learning. Six of the questions utilized 7-point likert scales for the response format, whereas the other questions used a multiple-choice format. See Appendix B for the complete survey.

The Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ) was designed to measure motivation strategies that students have for learning (Pintrich et al., 1991) and it can be found in Appendix C. The MSLQ has two subscales measuring motivation and learning strategies. The motivation subscale includes the following dimensions: intrinsic and extrinsic goal orientation, task value, control of learning beliefs, self-efficacy for learning and performance, affective component, and test anxiety. An example of the motivation subscale question would be, "I am sure I can do an excellent job on the problems and tasks assigned for this class." The learning strategies subscale measures these additional dimensions: rehearsal, elaboration, organization, critical thinking, metacognitive self-regulation, time and study environment, effort regulation, peer learning, and help seeking. An example of learning strategies would be, "I prefer class work that is challenging so I can learn new things." Participants respond to all statements on a 7-point scale ranging from 1 "not at all true" to 7 "very true." Huang (2008) investigated the scale's reliability and its correlation with foreign language learning

achievement. The results showed that foreign language learning was similar to other subjects in the school environment and the MSLQ has the ability to be applied to foreign language learning studies. Thus, the scales psychometric properties were appropriate for this study.

The Strategies Inventory for Language Learning (SILL) was developed by Oxford and Burry-Stock (1998) and it can be found in Appendix D. The scale measures memory, cognitive, compensating, metacognitive, managing emotions, and social strategies of learning. The scale is based on 50 questions using 5-point likert scales ranging from "never true" to "always true." The memory subscale measures how learners use memory to link new items to something already known. The cognitive subscale measures to what degree individuals use reconstructing or the process by which associations between new and already known information is strengthened. The compensating subscale measures to what degree learners use the context of the situation while listening and reading to compensate for a knowledge gap. The metacognitive scale measures to what degree learners organize and evaluate their own learning. Managing emotions measures the degree learners identify their own feelings in learning circumstances. Social emotional measures how much the learner works with others to better understand culture and language they are learning. An example of a question from the SILL would be, "I remember a new second language word by making a mental picture of a situation in which the word might be used." Demirel (2009) found the psychometric properties of the scale to be good.

The media consumption survey was designed to assess how much media participants consumed in English as compared to their native language and is located in Appendix E. The survey was based off of Kohut et al. (2012) but was modified by the experimenter to fit the characteristics for this study. Participants read a statement about various forms of media and were asked to rate how frequently they consumed each form in English and their native language. There are a total of 19 questions using a 7-point likert scale ranging from 1 "not frequently" to 7 "very frequently." An example of one of these questions is, "How frequently do you watch the news or news program on TV?" The final question asked participants to rate overall how much media they consumed in English based on the same 7-point likert scale as the rest of the questions.

RESULTS

Controlling for influence of FHSU Pilot Project

FHSU pilot project. As a reminder, the purpose of this study was not to measure the effectiveness of the software programs on acquisition of English as a second language (the FHSU pilot project). Thus, no hypotheses were formed related to the software programs and performance on the ESL placement test. However, it is important to control for any influence the software programs might have had on the current hypotheses. As a result, an ANOVA was conducted to see if performance on the ESL placement test varied by software programs.

One-way ANOVA results indicated use of the software programs did impact performance on the ESL placement test, F(2, 74) = 4.50, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .11$, power = .75. Specifically, the post-hoc tests revealed that the control group (M = 26.92, SD = 4.58) scored significantly lower than the two experimental conditions; Tell Me More/Rosetta Stone (M = 31.09, SD = 5.22) and ESL Wow/Memrise (M = 32.13, SD = 4.86). To prevent this significant difference from impacting the interpretation of results for the current hypotheses, each analysis discussed below was divided by condition. In the first analysis, only scores from the control condition were used and in the second analysis, scores from the combined experimental conditions were used.

Outcome of Demographic Variables and Learning English

Study abroad. First, it was predicted that demographic variables would be related to scores on the ESL placement test. Specifically, it was hypothesized that those participants who indicated they had previously studied abroad or desired to study abroad

in the future would show higher scores on the ESL placement test than those individuals who had not studied abroad or were not interested in doing so in the future.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to asses if scores on the ESL placement test would be impacted by previous study abroad opportunities. For the experimental groups, there was no significant difference in scores on the ESL placement test between participants who indicated they had studied abroad (M = 32.99, SD = 7.08) and participants who indicated they had not studied abroad (M = 31.41, SD = 4.91), F(1, 58) = 1.77, p > .05, $\eta_p^2 = .98$, power = 1.00. For the control group, all participants indicated they had not previously studied abroad and thus additional analyses were not warranted.

Next, a one-way ANOVA was conducted to assess if scores on the ESL placement test would be impacted by a desire to study abroad in the future. For the experimental groups, there was no significant difference in scores on the ESL placement test between participants who desired to study abroad (M=31.70, SD=5.56), did not desire to study abroad (M = 33.43, SD = 3.25), or might be interested in studying abroad (M = 30.77, SD = 4.56), F(2, 57) = 0.69, p > .05. A similar result was found with the control group as there was no significant difference in scores on the ESL placement test between participants who desired to study abroad (M = 25.00, SD = 1.42), did not desire to study abroad (M = 26.01, SD = 6.08), or might be interested in studying abroad (M = 28.00, SD = 4.84), F(2, 8) = 0.35, p > .05, η_p ² = .98, power = 1.00.

Exposure and interest. Other demographics were predicted to influence scores on the ESL placement test. Specifically, it was hypothesized that individuals would score higher on the ESL placement test: (a) as English was spoken more often in the home, and

(b) as individual interest to learn English increased. It was also predicted that participants who believed learning English was beneficial to them would score higher on the ESL placement test than individuals who did not believe it was beneficial.

A Pearson correlation was first performed to assess the relationship between the frequency with which English was spoken in the home and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between frequency with which English was spoken in the home and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(59) = .12, p > .05 (one-tailed). Similarly for the control groups, the correlation was also not statistically significant, r(9) = -.19, p > .05 (one-tailed).

Next, a Pearson correlation was performed to assess the relationship between an individual's interest in learning English and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between an individual's interest in learning English and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(58) = .13, p > .05 (one-tailed). Similarly for the control groups, the correlation was also not statistically significant, r(9) = -.34, p > .05 (one-tailed).

Finally, a one-way ANOVA was conducted to asses if scores on the ESL placement test would be impacted by the belief that learning English was beneficial. For the experimental groups, there was no significant difference in scores on the ESL placement test between participants who indicated that learning English is beneficial (M = 31.67, SD = 4.99) and participants who indicated that learning English was not beneficial (M = 25.01, SD = 5.02), F(1, 58) = 1.77., p > .05, $\eta_p^2 = .29$, power = .26. For

the control group, all participants indicated that learning English would be beneficial and thus additional analyses were not warranted.

Outcome of Motivation and Learning English

It was predicted that motivation would impact scores on the ESL placement test. To test this hypothesis, correlations between individuals' scores on the subscales of the MSLQ and scores on the ESL placement test were examined. A Pearson correlation was performed to assess the relationship between intrinsic motivation and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between intrinsic motivation and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(65) = -.13, p > .05 (two-tailed). The correlation was also not statistically significant for the control, r(10) = .14, p > .05 (two-tailed). A Pearson correlation was also performed to assess the relationship between extrinsic motivation and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between extrinsic motivation and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(63) = -.02, p > .05 (two-tailed). Similarly for the control groups, the correlation was also not statistically significant, r(10) = .32, p > .05 (two-tailed).

Outcome of Strategies for Learning English

It was also predicted that participants' strategies for learning English would impact scores on the ESL placement test. To test this hypothesis, a Pearson correlation was performed to assess the relationship between each subscale of the SILL and scores on the ESL placement test. The first SILL subscale that was analyzed was *remembering effectively*. A Pearson correlation was performed to evaluate the relationship between

remembering effectively and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between remembering effectively and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(63) = .00 p > .05 (two-tailed). Similarly for the control groups, the correlation was also not statistically significant, r(9) = -.29, p >.05 (two-tailed). A Pearson correlation was performed to assess the relationship between mental processes and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between mental process and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(63) = .04, p > .05 (two-tailed). Similarly for the control groups, the correlation was also not statistically significant, r(9) = -.01, p > .05 (two-tailed). A Pearson correlation was performed to assess the relationship between missing knowledge and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between missing knowledge and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(63) = .12, p > .05 (two-tailed). The correlation was also not statistically significant for the control group, r(9) = .10, p > .05 (two-tailed). A Pearson correlation was performed to assess the relationship between organizing learning and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between organizing learning and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(63) = -.00, p > .05 (two-tailed). The correlation was also not statistically significant for the control group, r(9) = .14, p > .05 (two-tailed). A Pearson correlation was performed to assess the relationship between managing emotions and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between managing emotions and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(63) = .07, p > .05 (twotailed). For the control groups, the correlation was also not statistically significant, r(9) = -.21, p > .05 (two-tailed). A Pearson correlation was performed to assess the relationship between *learn with others* and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between learn with others and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(63) = .01, p > .05 (two-tailed). Similarly for the control groups, the correlation was also not statistically significant, r(9) = -.03, p > .05 (two-tailed).

Outcome of Media and Learning English

Finally, it was also hypothesized that scores on the ESL placement test would be related to scores on the media consumption survey. Specifically how often participants consumed various forms of media in English was predicted to increase English fluency. A composite score on the media consumption survey was calculated by summing how frequently various forms of media were consumed in English. A Pearson correlation was first performed to assess the relationship between the frequency media was consumed in English and scores on the ESL placement test. For the experimental groups, the correlation between English media consumption and scores on the ESL placement test was not statistically significant, r(64) = -.05, p > .05 (one-tailed). Similarly for the control group, the correlation was also not statistically significant, r(9) = .05, p > .05 (one-tailed).

DISCUSSION

Demographic Variables and Learning English

The purpose of the current study was to examine the influence of demographic variables, motivation, strategies for learning language, and media exposure on second language acquisition. First, it was predicted that demographic variables would be related to ESL placement test scores. For example, those participants who indicated they had previously studied abroad or desired to study abroad in the United States (US) would show higher scores on the ESL placement test than those individuals who reported no interest in study abroad. A positive correlation between frequency with which English was spoken in the home and ESL placement scores was also expected. However, ESL placement test scores were not significantly related to frequency with which English was spoken in the home or study abroad. These results indicated that there is not a positive correlation between studying abroad and second language acquisition, nor was there a positive correlation between frequency of English spoken in the home and English acquisition. Muñoz and Llanes (2014) investigated the outcome of participants of two different age groups (child vs. adults) learning English in two different contexts (at home vs. study abroad). It was found that child participants abroad experienced the greatest improvement and also spent more time speaking with native speakers than adult participants abroad. The results of this study may suggest that participants of a younger age may utilize the second language while in a study abroad experience which then enables them to acquire more of that language compared to adults experiencing study abroad. These findings relate to the current study's findings by suggesting that the adult

participants in the current study may have not utilized English while experiencing a study abroad compared to the way a child may utilize a second language as demonstrated in Muñoz and Llanes (2014). Tagoilelagi-Leota, McNaughton, MacDonald, and Farry (2005) studied children whom were exposed to two languages in the home. Development in a home language (L1) and in English (L2) was plotted over six months prior to going to school and over the first year at an English speaking school. Before attending school the students develop both languages equally. After one year of school, there were indicators of faster progress in English and a slowing down of progress in L1. These results suggest that there was a greater amount of L2 learning while in school rather than from exposure in the home. Results are congruent with the current study's results indicating that L2 exposure in the home does not relate significantly to overall L2 learning.

Motivation and Learning English

It was predicted that motivation would impact ESL placement test scores. Specifically, a positive correlation was predicted between scores on the intrinsic subscale and scores on the ESL placement test. Results indicated that there was not a positive correlation between scores on the intrinsic subscale and scores on the ESL placement test. Although this correlation was predicted based on findings from previous research, there is research support for the non-significant findings from the current study. Previous research indicated that ELL student's self-efficacy positively and significantly associated with reading comprehension, while intrinsic motivation was not associated with reading comprehension (Proctor, Daley, Louick, Leider, & Gardner, 2014). Based on these

results, it may have been beneficial to also assess self-efficacy in relation to second language acquisition. Assessing self-efficacy may have provided different results than the current study's look at intrinsic and extrinsic motivation.

Strategies for Learning English

It was also predicted that participant's strategies for learning English would impact ESL placement test scores. A positive correlation was predicted between the participant's score on the ESL placement test and their score on each subscale of the SILL; remembering effectively, mental processes, missing knowledge, organizing learning, managing emotions, and learn with others. However, results did not find a positive correlation between participants' scores on the SILL and the ESL placement test. These findings were supported by Areepattamannil (2014) who found that self-reported use of elaboration strategies were not significantly associated with reading literacy among adolescents from India. Previous research suggested that Chinese students underestimate the difficulty of learning English (Tang & Tian, 2015), if they underestimate the difficulty in learning English then they may not be using strategies that would help improve their English fluency. It may be suggested that when students do not foresee a subject area to be difficult they may not search for more learning strategies to aide them in acquiring the subject material.

Media and Learning English

Finally, how often participants consumed various forms of media in English was predicted to increase English fluency. The participants who consumed more media in English were not only exposed to English more but also had an interest in the American

culture which may have increased their desire to learn English and consequently increased ESL placement test scores. Results indicated that there was not a positive increase in English fluency based on media exposure in English. Choi and Clark (2006) assessed college level English ESL students with no significant difference between the group exposed to multimedia and the group not exposed to the multimedia agent. They claim that learning is supported by appropriate instructional methods and not a delivery medium. Participants may have been limited in the media available to consume in English due to government restrictions on internet use (Xu, 2014).

Limitations and Directions for Future Research

Limitations associated with this study include that the researcher did not design the study. The fact that the researcher did not design the study limited the researcher's methods of implementing their specific hypothesis. The relationship to Fort Hays State University's study may have also incorporated limitations to this study. The researcher's inability to be on site of the study could have also caused limitations, as the researcher was not on site to monitor the implementation of the study and data collection process. The study was done internationally which caused limitations in control variables. An international study is more difficult to control for extraneous variables because there are vast extraneous variables to control. The ESL placement test was constructed by FHSU which limited the ability to test validity and reliability. The researcher had agreed with the test constructors to not assess the validity and reliability of the ESL placement test.

Cultural differences between Chinese students and English expectations may have also effected English acquisition. Gu and Schweisfurth (2006) looked at the effect of

culture in Chinese learners. They looked at the challenges Chinese learners face in adapting to the British higher education teaching and learning culture. They found a change in the learners, affected by a range of interrelated personal, cultural, social, psychological and contextual factors. Research on the links between the Chinese cultural context and Chinese learning styles has provided an important basis for understanding the interface between Chinese learners and Western modes of education. There may also be difference in U.S. and Chinese cultural beliefs about learning. Li (2003) examined U.S. and Chinese conceptions of learning with learning-related terms collected from U.S. and Chinese students. The sets of cultural beliefs contained such different notions about learning that there was little overlap. English terms included elaborated conceptions of mental processes, internal learning characteristics, social contexts, and externally existing bodies of knowledge. Chinese terms included personal attitudes, purposes, and action plans for learning. Chinese concepts also emphasized achievement standards of breadth and depth of knowledge, the unity of knowledge and morality, and contributions to society.

Implications

The study helped researchers to understand variables that may or may not be related to second language acquisition. This knowledge is important for students and for educators. Students can use this knowledge to help them assess strategies that they may want to use for second language acquisition. It may also help them understand the influence of how their personal demographic variables, motivation, strategies for learning language, and media exposure may or may not impact their learning a second language.

As a learner it is important to understand how you personally learn and what has or hasn't worked for learners in previous research. Second language learners can judge themselves based off of these results how best they may learn a second language and what strategies they may want to use. This information is also helpful to second language educators. Second language educators need to know how best to teach their second language learners so knowing variables such as the impact of second language learning on demographic variables, motivation, strategies for learning language, and media exposure may help them in educating their students. Educators have the difficult job of teaching to a variety of students with a variety of learning techniques, any help from previous research on the techniques used to learn specific information such as a second language can be advantages for them.

Conclusions

Overall the study did broaden our knowledge on second language acquisition at the college level. Much research has been done in younger ages for second language learning but not as much research has been assessed for second language learning in college students. There is also little research addressing second language learning on demographic variables, motivation, strategies for learning language, and media exposure at the college level. This research is beneficial in looking at these different variables for this age group. This information may also be advantageous in the education of second language learning and to future research.

REFERENCES

- Aaronson, D., & Rieber, R. W. (1975). Developmental psycho-linguistics and communication disorders. New York, NY: New York Academy of Sciences.
- Adams, J. W., & Snowling, M. J. (2001). Executive function and reading impairments in children reported by their teachers as 'hyperactive.' *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 19, 293–306. doi:10.1348/026151001166083
- Albers, C. A., & Hoffman, A. (2012). Using flashcard drill methods and self-graphing procedures to improve the reading performance of English language learners. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 28, 367-388. doi:10.1080/15377903.2012.731365
- Areepattamannil, S. (2014). Are learning strategies linked to academic performance among adolescents in two states in India? A tobit regression analysis. *Journal of General Psychology*, 141(4), 408-424. doi:10.1080/00221309.2014.957637
- Baddeley, A. D. (2003). Working memory and language: An overview. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 36, 189–208. doi:10.1016/S0021-9924(03)00019-4
- Baker, D., Park, Y., & Baker, S. K. (2012). The reading performance of English learners in grades 1–3: The role of initial status and growth on reading fluency in Spanish and English. *Reading and Writing*, *25*(1), 251-281. doi:10.1007/s11145-010-9261-z
- Bishop, D. M., Barry, J. G., & Hardiman, M. J. (2012). Delayed retention of new word-forms is better in children than adults regardless of language ability: A factorial two-way study. *Plos ONE*, 7(5), doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037326

- Brenneman, M. H., Morris, R. D., & Israelian, M. (2007). Language preference and its relationship with reading skills in English and Spanish. *Psychology in the Schools*, 44(2), 171-181. doi:10.1002/pits.20214
- Brophy, K., Webb, P., & Hancock, S. (1997). Early primary teachers' perceptions of the process of inclusion. *Journal on Developmental Disabilities*, *5*(1), 62-85.
- Brown, J. (2009). Self-regulatory strategies and agency in self-instructed language learning: A situated view. *Modern Language Journal*, *93*, 570-583. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2009.00965.x
- Carbonneau, N., Vallerand, R. J., & Lafrenière, M. K. (2012). Toward a tripartite model of intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Personality*, 80(5), 1147-1178. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2011.00757.x
- Chi-Li, L. (2011). Chinese high school graduates' beliefs about English learning. *Studies in Literature & Language*, *3*(2), 11-18. doi:10.3968/j.sll.1923156320110302395
- Choi, S., & Clark, R. E. (2006). Cognitive and affective benefits of an animated pedagogical agent for learning English as a second language. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 34(4), 441-466. doi:10.2190/A064-U776-4208-N145
- Dale, P. S., Harlaar, N., & Plomin, R. (2012). Nature and nurture in school-based second language achievement. *Language Learning*, 62, 28-48. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9922.2012.00705.x

- Deci, E. L., Koestner, R., & Ryan, R. M. (1999). A meta-analytic review of experiments examining the effects of extrinsic rewards on intrinsic motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 125(6), 627-668. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.125.6.627
- Deniz, S. (2010). Student teachers' evaluation of the motivational strategies used in foreign language teaching. *Social Behavior and Personality*, *38*(9), 1269-1286. doi:10.2224/sbp.2010.38.9.1269
- Demirel, M. (1990). The validity and reliability study of Turkish version of strategy inventory for language learners. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 7(6), 708-714. Retrieved from http://idosi.org/wasj/wasj7(6)/3.pdf
- Ehrman, M., & Oxford, R. (1989). Effects of sex differences, career choice, and psychological type on adult language learning strategies. *Modern Language Journal*, 73, 1-13. doi:10.2307/32726
- Erler, L., & Macaro, E. (2011). Decoding ability in French as a foreign language and language learning motivation. *Modern Language Journal*, *95*(4), 496-518. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01238.x
- Eysenck, H. J., & Naias, N. K. B. (1978). Sex, violence and the media. New York, NY: Harper.
- Ferle, C., & Lee, W. (2005). Can English language media connect with ethnic audiences? Ethnic minorities' media use and representation perceptions. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 45(1), 140-153. doi:10.1017/S002184990505004X
- Festinger, L. (1957). *A theory of cognitive dissonance*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

- Fisch, S. M. (2002). Vast wasteland or vast opportunity: Effects of educational television on children's academic knowledge, skills, and attitudes. In J. Bryant & D. Zilmann (Eds.), *Media effects* (pp. 397-426). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Fort Hays State University. (2013). *Office of strategic partnerships*. Retrieved from http://www.fhsu.edu/osp/
- Gerber, A. S., Huber, G. A., Doherty, D., & Dowling, C. M. (2011). Personality traits and the consumption of political information. *American Politics Research*, *39*(1), 32-84. doi:10.1177/1532673X10381466
- Grant, A., Gottardo, A., & Geva, E. (2011). Reading in English as a first or second language: The case of grade 3 Spanish, Portuguese, and English speakers. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, *26*(2), 67-83. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2011.00327.x
- Gray, P. (1998). Paradise found. *Time*, 63-68.
- Gu, Q., & Schweisfurth, M. (2006). Who adapts? Beyond cultural models of 'the' Chinese learner. *Language, Culture and Curriculum*, 19(1), 74-89. doi:10.1080/07908310608668755
- Harackiewicz, J. M. (1979). The effects of reward contingency and performance feedback on intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 37(8), 1352-1363. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.37.8.1352
- Harris, R. J. (2009). *A cognitive psychology of mass communication*. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Hayenga, A. O., & Corpus, J. (2010). Profiles of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: A person-centered approach to motivation and achievement in middle school. *Motivation and Emotion*, *34*(4), 371-383. doi:10.1007/s11031-010-9181-x
- Howard, M. (2012). The advanced learner's sociolinguistic profile: On issues of individual differences, second language exposure conditions, and type of sociolinguistic variable. *Modern Language Journal*, 96, 20-33. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2012.01293.x
- Huang, S. (2008). Assessing motivation and learning strategies using The Motivated Strategies For Learning Questionnaire in a foreign language learning context. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, *36*, 529-534.
- Kang, S. K., Gollan, T. H., & Pashler, H. (2013). Don't just repeat after me: Retrieval practice is better than imitation for foreign vocabulary learning. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 20(6), 1259-1265. doi:10.3758/s13423-013-0450-z
- Klapper, J. T. (1960). *The effects of mass communication*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Kohn, S. L. (2010). The effects of choice and training reputation on training effectiveness. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 70, 45-23.
- Kohut, A., Doherty, C., Dimock, M., & Keeter, S. (2012). In changing news landscape, even television is vulnerable. *Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Biennal Media Consumption Survey Final Topline*. Retrieved from http://www.people-press.org/2012/09/27/in-changing-news-landscape-even-television-is-vulnerable/

- Kormos, J., & Csizér, K. (2008). Age-related differences in the motivation of learning English as a foreign language: Attitudes, selves, and motivated learning behavior. *Language Learning*, *58*, 327-355. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9922.2008.00443.x
- Kormos, J., Kiddle, T., & Csizér, K. (2011). Systems of goals, attitudes, and self-related beliefs in second-language-learning motivation. *Applied Linguistics*, *32*(5), 495-516. doi:10.1093/applin/amr019
- Krashen, S. D. (1982). *Principles and practice in second language acquisition*. New York, NY: Pergamon Institute of English.
- Krashen, S. D. (1985). The input hypothesis: issues and implications. New York, NY: Longman.
- Lawrence, J. (2012). English vocabulary trajectories of students whose parents speak a language other than English: Steep trajectories and sharp summer setback.

 *Reading and Writing, 25(5), 1113-1141. doi:10.1007/s11145-011-9305-z
- Lee, W., & Tse, D. K. (1994). Changing media consumption in a new home:

 Acculturation patterns among Hong Kong immigrants to Canada. *Journal of Advertising*, 23(1), 57-70.
- Lenneberg, E. (1967). *Biological foundations of language*. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Lenneberg, E. (1969). On explaining language. Science, 165, 635-643.
- Li, J. (2003). U.S and Chinese cultural beliefs about learning. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(2), 258-267. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.95.2.258

- Linck, J. A., Kroll, J. F., & Sunderman, G. (2009). Losing access to the native language while immersed in a second language: Evidence for the role of inhibition in second-language learning. *Psychological Science*, *20*(12), 1507-1515. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02480.x
- Lo, Y., & Murphy, V. A. (2010). Vocabulary knowledge and growth in immersion and regular language-learning programs in Hong Kong. *Language and Education*, 24, 215-238.
- MacIntyre, P. D., Burns, C., & Jessome, A. (2011). Ambivalence about communicating in a second language: A qualitative study of French immersion students' willingness to communicate. *Modern Language Journal*, 95, 81-96.
- Mayberry, R., & Lock, E. (2003). Age constraints on first versus second language acquisition: Evidence for linguistic plasticity and epigenesis. *Brain and Language*, 87, 369–384.
- McGeown, S. P., Norgate, R., & Warhurst, A. (2012). Exploring intrinsic and extrinsic reading motivation among very good and very poor readers. *Educational Research*, *54*(3), 309-322. doi:10.1080/00131881.2012.710089
- McNealy, K., Mazziotta, J. C., & Dapretto, M. (2011). Age and experience shape developmental changes in the neural basis of language-related learning. *Developmental Science*, *14*(6), 1261-1282. doi:10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01075.x
- Meisel, J. (1995). Parameters in acquisition. In P. Fletcher & B. MacWhinney (Eds.), *The handbook of child language* (pp. 10–35). Oxford, UK: Blackwell.

- Montessori, M. (2012). *Sensitive period for language (birth to 6 years)*. Retrieved from http://www.dailymontessori.com/sensitive-periods/sensitive-period-for-language/
- Mucherah, W. (2008). Immigrants' perceptions of their native language: Challenges to actual use and maintenance. *Journal of Language, Identity, and Education, 7*, 188-205. doi:10.1080/15348450802237806
- Muñoz, C., & Llanes, À. (2014). Study abroad and changes in degree of foreign accent in children and adults. *Modern Language Journal*, *98*(1), 432-449. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2014.12059.x
- Newport, E. (1991). Contrasting conceptions of the critical period for language. In S. Carey & R. Gelman (Eds.), *The epigenesist of mind: Essays on biology and cognition* (pp.111-130). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Oliver, B., Harlaar, N., Hayiou, T., Marianna, E., Kovas, Y., & Walker, S. O. (2004). A twin study of teacher-reported mathematics performance and low performance in 7-year-olds. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *96*, 504–517.
- Oxford, R. L., & Burry-Stock, J. A. (1998). Strategy inventory for language learning (SILL). Version for Speakers of Other Languages Learning English. Retrieved from http://www.educ.ualberta.ca/staff/olenka.Bilash/best%20of%20bilash/SILL%20survey.pdf
- Perfetti, C. A., & Marron, M. A. (1998). Learning to read: Literacy acquisition by children and adults. In D. A. Wagner (Ed.), *Advances In Adult Literacy Research and Development*. Hampton Press. Retrieved from

- http://www.pitt.edu/~perfetti/PDF/Learning%20to%20read,%20literacy%20acq%20by%20children%20and%20adults-%20Marron.pdf
- Perse, E. M. (2001). Media effects and society. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Pintrich, P. R., Smith, D. A., Garcia, T., & McKeachie W. J. (1991). *A manual for the use of the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ)*. National Center for Research to Improve Postsecondary Teaching and Learning. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan.
- Proctor, C. P., Daley, S., Louick, R., Leider, C. M., & Gardner, G. L. (2014). How motivation and engagement predict reading comprehension among native English-speaking and English-learning middle school students with disabilities in a remedial reading curriculum. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 36, 76-83. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2014.10.014
- Purvis, K, & Tannock, RT. (2000). Phonological processing, not inhibitory control, differentiates ADHD and reading disorder. *Journal of The American Academemy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *39*, 485–494. doi:10.1097/00004583-200004000-00018.
- Radach, R., Kennedy, A., & Rayner, K. (2004). Eye movements and information processing during reading. New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Rassuli, A. (2012). Engagement in classroom learning: Creating temporal participation incentives for extrinsically motivated students through bonus credits. *Journal of Education for Business*, 87, 86-93. doi:10.1080/08832323.2011.570808

- Reitsma, P. (1983). Printed word learning in beginning readers. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*. *36*, 321–339. doi:10.1016/0022-0965(83)90036-X.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *25*(1), 54-67. doi:10.1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Ryan, R. L., & Deci, E. M. (2002). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well being. *American Psychologist*, 55, 68-78.
- Sachs, A. (2002, April 15). Oprah turns the page. *Time*, p. 63.
- Samuels, S. J., & Flor, R. (1997). The importance of automaticity for developing expertise in reading. *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, *13*, 107–122. doi: 10.1080/1057356970130202.
- Schuett, S., Heywood, C.A., Kentridge, R.W., & Zihl, J. (2008). The significance of visual information processing in reading: Insights from Hemianopic Dyslexia

 Neuropsychologia, 46, 2441–2458. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.04.016.
- Scovel, T. (1969) Foreign accents, language acquisition and cerebral dominance. *Language Learning*, 19, 245-253.
- Senghas, A., & Coppola, M. (2001). Children creating language: How Nicaraguan Sign Language acquired a spatial grammar. *Psychological Science*, *12*, 323–328.
- Sheldon, K. M., & Ryan, R. M. (2011). Positive psychology and self-determination theory: A natural interface. New York, NY: Springer Science + Business Media.

- Stafford, C. A., Bowden, H., & Sanz, C. (2012). Optimizing language instruction:

 Matters of explicitness, practice, and cue learning. *Language Learning*, 62, 741-768. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9922.2011.00648.x
- Sweeney, P. D., & Gruber, K. L. (1984) Selective exposure: Voter information preferences and the Watergate affair. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46, 1208-1221.
- Tagoilelagi-Leota, F., McNaughton, S., MacDonald, S., & Farry, S. (2005). Bilingual and biliteracy development over the transition to school. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, 8(5), 455-479.

 doi:10.1080/13670050508668624
- Tang, M., & Tian, J. (2015). Associations between Chinese EFL graduate students' beliefs and language learning strategies. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, 18(2), 131-152. doi:10.1080/13670050.2014.882882
- Tong, F. G. (2011). The effects of an instructional intervention on dual language development among first-grade Hispanic English-learning boys and girls: A two-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Educational Research*, 104, 87-99.
- Trofimovich, P. (2008). What do second language listeners know about spoken words? Effects of experience and attention in spoken word processing. *Journal of Psycholinguistic Research*, *37*(5), 309-329. doi:10.1007/s10936-008-9069-z
- Vansteenkiste, M., Lens, W., & Deci, E. L. (2006). Intrinsic versus extrinsic goal contents in Self-determination Theory: Another look at the quality of academic motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, 41, 19-31.

- Vinkhuyzen, A. A. E., Van Der Sluis, S., Posthuma, D., & Boomsma, D. I. (2009). The heritability of aptitude and expectional talent across different domains in adolescents and young adults. *Behavior Genetics*, 39, 380–392.
- Wainwright, M. A., Wright, M., Luciano, M., Geffen, G., & Martin, N. (2005).
 Multivariate genetic analysis of academic skills of the Queensland Core Skills
 Test and IQ highlight the importance of genetics. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, 8, 602–608.
- Wang, F. (2008). Motivation and English achievement: An exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis of a new measure for Chinese students of English learning. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 10(3), 633-646.
- Wang, Y., Peng, H., Huang, R., Hou, Y., & Wang, J. (2008). Characteristics of distance learners: Research on relationships of learning motivation, learning strategy, self-efficacy, attribution and learning results. *Open Learning: The Journal of Open and Distance Learning, 23*(1), 17-28. doi:10.1080/02680510701815277
- Warneken, F., & Tomasello, M. (2008). Extrinsic rewards undermine altruistic tendencies in 20-month-olds. *Developmental Psychology*, *44*(6), 1785-1788. doi:10.1037/a0013860
- Wessels, S. (2011). Promoting vocabulary learning for English learners. *Reading Teacher*, 65, 46-50.
- Wharton, G (2000). Language learning strategy use of bilingual foreign language learners in Singapore. *Language Learning*, *50*, 203-243. doi:10.1111/0023-83333.00117

- Wood, J.M., & Duke, N. K. (1997). Inside Reading Rainbow: A spectrum of strategies for promoting literacy. *Language Arts*, 74, 95-106.
- Yeung, S. S., & Chan, C. K. (2013). Phonological awareness and oral language proficiency in learning to read English among Chinese kindergarten children in Hong Kong. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 83(4), 550-568.
- Xu, B. (2014). Council on foreign relations. *Media censorship in China*. Retrieved from http://www.file:///C:/Downloads/Media+Censorship+in+China.pdf
- Ziegler, J.C., & Goswami, U. (2005) Reading acquisition, developmental dyslexia and skilled reading across languages: A psycholinguistic grain size theory.

 *Psychological Bulletin, 3, 131-329. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.131.1.3.
- Zillmann, D. (2000). Humor and comedy. In D. Zillmann & P. Vorderer (Eds.), *Media* entertainment (pp. 37-57). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum

TABLES

 Table 1

 Participant University Major (number and valid %)

Major	#	Valid%
Bachelor of Business Administration	23	23.5
Bachelor of Science in Organizational	19	19.4
Leadership		
Bachelor of Science in Global Business	38	38.8
English		
Bachelor of Science in Information	18	18.4
Networking and Telecommunications		

TABLES

 Table 2

 Fluent Languages (number and valid %)

Language	#	Valid%
Mandarin	97	100
English	16	83.7
Other	4	4.1

TABLES

 Table 3

 English Proficiency exam (number and valid %)

Exam	#	Valid%
Taken Exam	39	40.2
Didn't Take Exam	58	59.8
Passed Exam	45	73.8
Didn't Pass Exam	16	26.2

TABLES

 Table 4

 Planned and Unplanned students (number and valid %)

Student status	#	Valid%
Planned Student	91	93.8
Not a Planned Student	6	6.2
Unplanned Student	3	3.3
Not an Unplanned Student	89	96.7

TABLES

Table 5Study Abroad (number and valid %)

Study Abroad	#	Valid%
Study abroad in the foreign language program in which they are enrolled (yes)	3	3.1
Study abroad in the foreign language program in which they are enrolled (no)	93	96.9
Short-term program (2-8 weeks)	9	8.2
Long-term program (more than 8 weeks)	5	4.5
Desire to study abroad (yes)	55	56.7
Desire to study abroad (no)	12	12.4
Desire to study abroad (maybe)	30	30.9

Appendix A

ESL Placement Test

ESL Placement Test removed to protect test confidentiality.

Appendix B

Demographic Questionnaire

Directions: Chose the option that describes you best.

1. What is your gender?

	a.	Male
	b.	Female
2.	How ol	d are you?
	a.	18
	b.	19
	С.	20
		21
	_	22
		23
	g.	24
	h.	25
	i.	Other
3	What is	s your Ethnicity?
٥.	a.	Han
	b.	Other:
	٠.	<u></u>
4.	What is	s your university major?
	a.	Bachelor of Business Administration
	b.	Bachelor of Science in Organizational Leadership
	c.	Bachelor of Arts in Global Business English
	d.	Bachelor of Science In Information Networking and Telecommunications
5.	How m	any languages are you fluent in?
	a.	1
	b.	2
	c.	3
	d.	4
	e.	5 or more
6.	What la	anguages do you speak? Please Check all that apply.
	a.	Mandarin Chinese
	_	English
		Other:
	0.	
7.	Have y	ou taken the TOEFL, IELTS, or the HLI English proficiency exams?
	a.	Yes

	b. No
8.	If you answered yes to # 7 did you pass the exam? If you answered no to #7 continue to # 9. a. Yes b. No
9.	On a scale of 1-7 to what degree was English spoken by members in your household growing up? Never 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Frequently
10.	Are you a planned student? a. Yes b. No
11.	Are you an unplanned student? a. Yes b. No
12.	Did you study abroad in the language for the Foreign Language program in which you are enrolled? a. Yes b. No
13.	If you answered no to #12, please skip to question 14. If you answered yes to #12, was the program a. Short-term (2-8 weeks) b. Long-term (more than 8 weeks)?
14.	Do you desire to study abroad to the U.S. in the future? a. Yes b. No c. Maybe
15.	On a scale of 1-7 how frequently have you used the English supplementary software Rosetta Stone Totale prior to taking your current English composition class? Not at all 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Very Frequently
16.	On a scale of 1-7 how frequently have you used the English supplementary software Tell Me More prior to taking your current English composition class? Not at all 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Very Frequently
17.	On a scale of 1-7 how frequently have you used the English supplementary software Memrise prior to taking your current English composition class?

18.					•	•		•		ed the English supplementary software glish composition class?
		Not at all	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Very Frequently
19.	What is	your pers	ona	l int	eres	t lev	el in	lea	rnin	g English?
		Not at all	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Very Interested
20	امار میرا ما	laawaina Fr	l:	، ما ما		a£: a	:-!+		:	the future? For everyale in a job or if w

Not at all $\ 1 \quad 2 \quad 3 \quad 4 \quad 5 \quad 6 \quad 7$ Very Frequently

- 20. Would learning English be beneficial to you in the future? For example in a job or if you desire to travel?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

Appendix C

Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire

Please rate the following items based on your behavior in this class. Your rating should be on a 7-point scale where **1= not at all true of me** to **7= very true of me**.

- 1. I prefer class work that is challenging so I can learn new things.
- 2. Compared with other students in this class I expect to do well.
- 3. I am so nervous during a test that I cannot remember facts I have learned.
- 4. It is important for me to learn what is being taught in this class.
- 5. I like what I am learning in this class.
- 6. I'm certain I can understand the ideas taught in this course.
- 7. I think I will be able to use what I learn in this class in other classes.
- 8. I expect to do very well in this class.
- 9. Compared with others in this class, I think I'm a good student.
- 10. I often choose paper topics I will learn something from even if they require more work.
- 11. I am sure I can do an excellent job on the problems and tasks assigned for this class
- 12. I have an uneasy, upset feeling when I take a test.
- 13. I think I will receive a good grade in this class.
- 14. Even when I do poorly on a test I try to learn from my mistakes.
- 15. I think that what I am learning in this class is useful for me to know.
- 16. My study skills are excellent compared with others in this class.
- 17. I think that what we are learning in t his class is interesting.
- 18. Compared with other students in this class I think I know a great deal about the subject.
- 19. I know that I will be able to learn the material for this class.
- 20. I worry a great deal about tests.
- 21. Understanding this subject is important to me.
- 22. When I take a test I think about how poorly I am doing.
- 23. When I study for a test, I try to put together the information from class and from the book.
- 24. When I do homework, I try to remember what the teacher said in class so I can answer the questions correctly.
- 25. I ask myself questions to make sure I know the material I have been studying.
- 26. It is hard for me to decide what the main ideas are in what I read.
- 27. When work is hard I either give up or study only the easy parts.
- 28. When I study I put important ideas into my own words.
- 29. I always try to understand what the teacher is saying even if it doesn't make sense
- 30. When I study for a test I try to remember as many facts as I can.

- 31. When studying, I copy my notes over to help me remember material.
- 32. I work on practice exercises and answer end of chapter questions even when I don't have to.
- 33. Even when study materials are dull and uninteresting, I keep working until I finish.
- 34. When I study for a test I practice saying the important facts over and over to myself.
- 35. Before I begin studying I think about the things I will need to do to learn.
- 36. I use what I have learned from old homework assignments and the textbook to do new assignments.
- 37. I often find that I have been reading for class but don't know what it is all about.
- 38. I find that when the teacher is talking I think of other things and don't really listen to what is being said.
- 39. When I am studying a topic, I try to make everything fit together.
- 40. When I'm reading I stop once in a while and go over what I have read.
- 41. When I read materials for this class, I say the words over and over to myself to help me remember.
- 42. I outline the chapters in my book to help me study.
- 43. I work hard to get a good grade even when I don't like a class.
- 44. When reading I try to connect the things I am reading about with what I already know.

4

Appendix D

Strategy Inventory for Language Learning (SILL)

This form of the strategy inventory for language learning (SILL) is for students of a second language (SL), Please read each statement and fill in the bubble of the response (1, 2, 3, 4, or 5) that tells HOW TRUE THE STATEMENT IS.

- 1. Never or almost never true of me
- 2. Usually not true of me
- 3. Somewhat true of me
- 4. Usually true of me
- 5. Always or almost always true of me

Answer in terms of how well the statement describes you. Do not answer how you think you should be, or what other people do. **There are no right or wrong answers** to these statements.

Part A 1. I think of relationships between what I already know and new 1 5 things I learn in the SL.

- 2. I use new SL words in a sentence so I can remember them. 1 2 3 4
- 3. I connect the sound of a new SL word and an image or picture 1 2 3 4 5 of a situation in which the word might be used.
- 4. I remember a new SL word by making a mental picture of a 1 2 3 4 5 Situation in which the word might be used.
- 5. I use rhymes to remember new SL words. 1 2 3 4
- 6. I use flashcards to remember new SL words. 1 2 3 4
- 7. I physically act out new SL words. 1 2 3 4

	8.	I review SL lessons often. 5	1	2	3	4
	9.	I remember new SL words or phrases by remembering their 5 location on the page, on the board, or on a street sign.	1	2	3	4
Part B		. I say or write new SL words several times.	1	2	3	4
	11	. I try to talk like native SL speakers.	1	2	3	4
	12	. I practice the sounds of SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	13	. I use the SL words I know in different ways. 5	1	2	3	4
	14	. I start conversations in the SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	15	I watch SL language TV shows spoken in the SL or go to 5 movies spoken in SL.	1	2	3	4
	16	. I read for pleasure in the SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	17	. I write notes, messages, letters, or reports in the SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	18	I first skim an SL passage (read over the passage quickly) 5 then go back and read carefully.	1	2	3	4
	19	I look for words in my own language that are similar to new 5 words in the SL.	1	2	3	4
	20	. I try to find patterns in the SL.	1	2	3	4

	21.	I find the meaning of an SL word by dividing it into parts 5 that I understand.	1	2	3	4
	22.	I try not to translate word for word.	1	2	3	4
	23.	I make summaries of information that I hear or read in the SL. 5	1	2	3	4
Part C		To understand unfamiliar SL words, I make guesses. 5	1	2	3	4
	25.	When I can't think of a word during a conversation in the 5 SL, I use gestures.	1	2	3	4
	26.	I make up new words if I do not know the right ones in the SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	27.	I read SL without looking up every new word.	1	2	3	4
	28.	I try to guess what the other person will say next in the SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	29.	If I can't think of an SL word, I use a word or phrase that 5 means the same thing.	1	2	3	4
Part D						
	30.	I try to find as many ways as I can to use my SL.	1	2	3	4
	31.	I notice my SL mistakes and use that information to help me 5 do better.	1	2	3	4
	32.	I pay attention when someone is speaking SL. 5	1	2	3	4

	33.	I try to find out how to be a better learner of SL.	1	2	3	4
	34.	I plan my schedule so I will have enough time to study SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	35.	I look for people I can talk to in SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	36.	I look for opportunities to read as much as possible in SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	37.	I have clear goals for improving my SL skills.	1	2	3	4
	38.	I think about my progress in learning SL.	1	2	3	4
Part E		I try to relax whenever I feel afraid of using SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	40.	I encourage myself to speak SL even when I am afraid of 5 making a mistake.	1	2	3	4
	41.	I give myself a reward or treat when I do well in SL. 5	1	2	3	4
	42.	I notice if I am tense or nervous when I am studying or 5 using SL.	1	2	3	4
	43.	I write down my feelings in a language learning dairy.	1	2	3	4
	44.	I talk to someone else about how I feel when I am learning SL. 5	1	2	3	4
Part F		If I do not understand something in SL, I ask the other person 5 to slow down or say it again.	1	2	3	4

46. I ask SL speakers to correct me when I talk. 5	1	2	3	4
47. I practice SL with other students. 5	1	2	3	4
48. I ask for help from SL speakers. 5	1	2	3	4
49. I ask questions in SL. 5	1	2	3	4
50. I try to learn about the culture of SL speakers.	1	2	3	4

Appendix E

Revised Media Questionnaire

Directions:

Indicate if you have performed the following activities in English or in your native language in the past 7 days. Specifically, give an estimate of how frequently you performed each activity on a scale ranging from 1-7, 1 meaning that you didn't perform the activity at all and 7 showing that you performed it frequently.

you per	formed it frequently.	•11 •11	u / one wing viiw
Not at a	all 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Very frequently	/	
			English/ Native Language
1.	How frequently do you read news?	1	
2.	How frequently do you read a paper version of the newspaper?	2	
3.	How frequently do you read news online on a computer or a tablet?	3	
4.	How frequently do you read news online with a cell phone or mobile device?	4	
5.	How frequently do you watch the news or news program on TV?	5	
6.	How frequently do you listen to the traditional AM or FM radio for and purpose (e.g. music, talk show)?	6	
7.	How frequently do you listen to satellite radio for any purpose (e.g., music, talk show)?	7	
8.	How frequently do you listen to programs for any purpose	8	
	(e.g., music, talk show) on electronic devices including computers, MP players and cell phones?		
9.	How frequently do you read print magazines?	9	
	How frequently do you read magazines available through on-		
	line means?	10	
11.	Not including school or work related books,		
	how frequently do you read for pleasure?	11	
12.	How frequently do you play a game on a computer, mobile		
	device or video game console?	12	
13.	How frequently do you send an email, text	12	
	message or other instant message?	13	
14.	How frequently do you have a casual conversation with	13	
1.5	someone?	14	
15.	How frequently do you use Facebook or another social networking site?	14	
16.	How frequently do you "follow" any organizations or	15	
	individuals on Twitter or social networking sites?		
17.	How frequently to you "like" or "favorite post" of any	16	
	organizations or individuals on Twitter or social networking		
	sites?	17	
18.	How frequently do you watch TV shows or movies?	1 /	

18

• Thinking about what you watch on TV, listen to on the radio and read in newspapers... Overall, how much, if any, is in a language other than English? 1 meaning none at all, 2 little and 3 indicating a lot.

Never Frequently 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Appendix F

IRB Approval Letter



OFFICE OF SCHOLARSHIP AND SPONSORED PROJECTS

DATE: December 6, 2013

TO: Heidi Hines

FROM: Fort Hays State University IRB

STUDY TITLE: [530463-1] A Pilot Project in Supplementing English Language Instruction

IRB REFERENCE #: 14-029 SUBMISSION TYPE: New Project

ACTION: APPROVED
APPROVAL DATE: December 5, 2013
EXPIRATION DATE: December 5, 2014
REVIEW TYPE: Full Committee Review

Thank you for your submission of New Project materials for this research study. Fort Hays State University IRB has APPROVED your submission. This approval is based on an appropriate risk/benefit ratio and a study design wherein the risks have been minimized. All research must be conducted in accordance with this approved submission.

This submission has received Full Committee Review based on the applicable federal regulation.

Please remember that informed consent is a process beginning with a description of the study and insurance of participant understanding followed by a signed consent form unless documentation of consent has been waived by the IRB. Informed consent must continue throughout the study via a dialogue between the researcher and research participant. Federal regulations require each participant receive a copy of the signed consent document. The IRB-approved consent document must be used.

Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be approved by this office prior to initiation. Please use the appropriate revision forms for this procedure.

All SERIOUS and UNEXPECTED adverse events must be reported to this office. Please use the appropriate adverse event forms for this procedure. All FDA and sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed.

Please report all NON-COMPLIANCE issues or COMPLAINTS regarding this study to this office.

Please note that all research records must be retained for a minimum of three years.

Based on the risks, this project requires Continuing Review by this office on an annual basis. Please use the appropriate renewal forms for this procedure.

If you have any questions, please contact Leslie Paige at 785-628-4349 or lpaige@fhsu.edu. Please include your study title and reference number in all correspondence with this office.